FILED

MAR 2 1 2017

WASHINGTON STATE
SUPPLEME COURT

NO. 94277.3

COURT OF APPEALS, NO. 76012-2-I (Transferred from 48186-3-II, which was consolidated with No. 48311-4-II, 48326-2-II and 48372-6-II.)

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CHRISTOPHER COOK, KEVIN EVANS, JOSEPH JONES and CHRISTOPHER ROBINSON,

Plaintiffs/Respondents

V.

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

Defendant/Petitioner

2017 IUR -8 PH 3: 32

PETITION FOR REVIEW

MICHAEL C. KAHRS Attorney For Petitioner 5215 Ballard Ave. NW Seattle, WA 98107 mike@kahrslawfirm.com (206) 264-0643

A.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
B.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 1
C.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 1
D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
E.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 4
	1. THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW TO CLARIFY HOW AGENCIES SHOULD PROCESS PRA REQUESTS FOR DOCUMENTS GENERATED BY THIRD PARTY VENDERS TO THE AGENCIES CLIENTS THAT ARE NOT AUTOMATICALLY PUBLIC RECORDS
	2. THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW TO DEFINE WHAT TYPE OF POLICY A TRIAL COURT MAY RELY UPON WHEN EVALUATING POSSIBLE AGENCY PENALTIES
F.	CONCLUSION11

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases Page
Adams v. Dept. of Corrections, 189 Wn. App. 925, 361 P.3d 749 (2015)
Concerned Rate-payers Ass'n v. Public Utility Dist. No. 1 of Clark County, 138 Wn.2d 950, 983 P.2d 635 (1999)
Francis v. Dept. of Corrections, 178 Wn. App. 42, 313 P.3d 457 (2013) (review denied, 180 Wn.2d 1016, 327 P.3d 55 (2014))
Segura v. Cabrera, 179 Wn. App. 630, 319 P.3d 98 (2014)
State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 122 P.3d 903 (2005)
Yousoufian v. King County, 168 Wn.2d 444, 229 P.3d 735 (2010) 10
Statutes
Public Records Act
RCW 42.56.010
RCW 42.56.565
Rules and Other Authorities
Black's Law Dictionary, p. 981 (10 th ed. 2015)
RAP 13.4(b)
RAP 18.1

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Respondents, Christopher Cook, Kevin Evans, Joseph Jones and Christopher Robinson herein petitions this Court for review of the decision by the Court of Appeals, Division I, designed in Appendix A of this Petition, as set forth below.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals, Division I, reversed the trial court's ruling granting the Respondents penalties and attorneys fees and costs pursuant to the Public Records Act ("PRA"). In its opinion, attached as Appendix A, the appellate court rejected imposing "harsh" penalties on the Department for its failure to conduct a search for possibly responsive documents it referenced in its policy governing requests for phone logs.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does an agency act in bad faith if it fails to conduct a reasonable search for documents it knows were possibly used or maintained by the agency?
- 2. Is the nature of the record determinative of an agency's bad faith when it fails to conduct a reasonable search?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Department of Corrections (Department) developed a policy on how employees would handle requests for phone logs. Newsbrief 13-01 was developed to provide guidance to its staff when phone logs were requested.

This document stated that any response to requests for phone logs should state that

[t]he Department's phone system is run and maintained by an outside vendor and the phone call records you request are not public records created, used or maintained by the department; therefore, the records are not disclosable under the Public Records Act, RCW 42.56.

Cook, CP 34; Evans, CP 36; Jones, CP 40; Robinson, CP 224. There was an additional note in Newsbrief 13-01 that stated the following:

Please note, that records pulled from the [Global Tel Link] GTL system for use in agency business (i.e. as an exhibit attached to an investigation) may be subject to disclosure and in this case would need to be pulled and provided in response to any public records request and reviewed for potential release.

Id., p. 7 (emphasis in the original). Cook, CP 34; Evans, CP 36; Jones, CP 40; and Robinson, CP 224. In its responses to Requesters's phone log requests, the Department stated without a search that they were not public records. Cook, CP 45; Evans, CP 47; Jones, CP 51; and Robinson, CP 34.

In its show cause motions and responses, the Department conceded the requested records would be public records and if they existed, they should have been produced. Cook, CP 148; Evans, CP 14; Jones, CP 17; and Robinson, CP 196. The Department failed to conduct any search for responsive records arguing instead that the onus was on the requester to raise

the issue. Evans, CP 248; Jones, CP 523-24; and Robinson, CP 317. After making this argument, the trial court issued letter opinions granting the three pro se requesters penalties. Evans, CP 241-49; Jones, CP 514-25; and Robinson, CP 309-18. The trial court signed an order granting the represented requester penalties. Cook; CP 147-49.

In these opinions, the trial court accepted the concession of the Department and then addressed the issue of bad faith. It accepted that Newbrief 13-01, in setting policy, was wrong but objectively reasonable. Cook, CP 148; Evans, CP 244-47; Jones, CP 520-23; and Robinson, CP 313-16. However, the trial court found that because the Department failed to "perform any search of its own records or take any steps to determine whether the records . . . came within the exception set forth in its own policy, "bad faith was established and penalties were due." Evans, CP 247-49; Jones, CP 523-24; and Robinson, CP 316-18. *See also* Cook, CP 148. It granted the requesters penalties of \$25 per day. Cook, CP 148; Evans, CP 249; Jones, CP 524-25; Robinson, CP 318.

In its decision, Division I made explicit reference to a situation not involving any of the Respondents where the inmate requester was a member of a security threat group and the phone records belonged to a confidential informant. Opinion, p. 2. Rather than treating this "internal guideline" as informing employees of the Department of where a reasonably conducted

search should look for responsive documents, Division I relied on its informal language to find that the language did not contain "any implied policy to search investigation files or to disclose the substance of the internal note." *Id.*, p. 8.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

There are four sets of criteria upon which this Court relies when it considers whether or not to accept review. RAP 13.4(b). It requires one of the following:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

It is appropriate for this Court to accept review because the decision of Division I conflicts with decisions of both levels of appellate courts and there are issues of substantial public interest which would provide guidance to agencies tasked with responding to record requests.

1. THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW TO CLARIFY HOW AGENCIES SHOULD PROCESS PRA REQUESTS FOR DOCUMENTS GENERATED BY THIRD PARTY VENDERS TO THE AGENCIES CLIENTS THAT ARE NOT AUTOMATICALLY PUBLIC RECORDS.

The Court of Appeals opinion rejected penalties because it claimed the Department's actions were not wilful nor wanton and were harsh. Opinion,. This rejection was based on the Department's original good faith belief that the records were not public records. And yet, just because an agency makes a good faith determination that a particular record is not normally a public record pursuant to RCW 42.56.010, it must still conduct a reasonable search for records when it knows those records may have been subsequently used by the agency. This is because a document, even if in the possession of a third party, may become a public record if it is related to governmental functions used or retained by the agency. RCW 42.56.010(3); see Concerned Rate-payers Ass'n v. Public Utility Dist. No. 1 of Clark County, 138 Wn.2d 950, 983 P.2d 635 (1999).

The Department knew that it was possible the records requested had been used by a branch of the agency. This possibility was referenced in NewBrief 13-01 where the reader was drawn to the underlined emphasis on the words "Please Note" which talked about this very real possibility. Under the rational of Division I, any agency which determines that a record is not

originally a public record and knows the record is occasionally used for governmental purposes but does not conduct a search based upon this knowledge should never be penalized.

Division I's decision is in conflict with this Court's decision in Concerned Ratepayers. In Concerned Ratepayers, this Court determined that an obscure document that was not in the possession of the agency was still a public record because it had been used within the meaning of the PRA. This was because the agency had reviewed the document. Id. at 959. By not finding a violation for the Department's failure to search, it is cutting the legs out of under Concerned Ratepayers. The next time a requester sues an agency for its failure to search for third party documents it used, the agency will argue it did not have a policy governing disclosure and thus it is not required to pay any penalties.

Furthermore, it provides an incentive for an agency not to search. If the Department had discovered the phone logs were used for any governmental purpose, they would be subject to the PRA and they would have to be provided or an exemption claimed. Without having looked, the Department could never know whether or not the record was used and whether or not the document was responsive to the Respondents' requests and it avoids any indelicate questions.

This decision also conflicts with Division II's decision on what constitutes bad faith. *See Francis v. Dept. of Corrections*, 178 Wn. App. 42, 313 P.3d 457 (2013) (review denied, 180 Wn.2d 1016, 327 P.3d 55 (2014)). In *Francis*, the Department spent a total of 15 minutes looking for a responsive document. *Id.* at 50. After the *Francis* court considered prior PRA cases on bad faith, non-PRA Washington cases on bad faith and cases involving the Federal Freedom of Information Act, it found that "actions short of intentional wrongdoing in performing a record search may establish bad faith." *Id.* at 59. It then ruled that "agency will be liable, though, if it fails to carry out a record search consistently with its proper policies and within the broad canopy of reasonableness." *Id.* at 63. Needless to say, this is precisely what Division II found when it determined that the 15 minute search was, for all intents and purposes, no search. *Id.* at 64.

Here, the Department didn't even conduct a 15 minute search. It conducted no search even though the plain language of Newsbrief 13-01 clearly warned the departmental employee responding to a request for phone logs that there may exist responsive records and spelled out exactly what these records would be. The decision of Division I conflicts with holding of *Francis*, a case that this Court refused to accept for review.

This is also a matter of public interest. Issues of public interest involve situations where not only the interest of the parties before this Court are affected but many others not before this Court may also be affected. *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005). In the PRA context, this Court provides guidance to the many agencies needing advice as to how to respond to common situations. The facts of this case are repeatable for the many agencies who have third party venders providing services to their clients. Accepting this case for review would assist agencies in determining their obligation to conduct a reasonable search for responsive records when they have possibly used the documents in question in the course of governmental business.

2. THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW TO DEFINE WHAT TYPE OF POLICY A TRIAL COURT MAY RELY UPON WHEN EVALUATING POSSIBLE AGENCY PENALTIES.

The lower courts which have considered bad faith with inmate requesters have said that an unreasonable search "does not necessarily constitute bad faith." *Faulkner v. Dept. of Corrections*, 183 Wn. App. 93, 102, 332 P.3d 1136 (2014) (citing *Francis*, 178 Wn. App. At 63 n. 5.). What assures a bad faith finding is where "the agency fails to conduct a search that is both reasonable and consistent with its policies." *Id.* (quoting *Francis*, 178 Wn. App. At 63 n. 5.). Division I reversed the award of penalties because it

found that the language in Newsbrief 13-01, which cautioned there may indeed be responsive records, was only "an internal guideline." Opinion, p. 8. Indeed, the court found that "[w]e do not discern any implied policy to search investigation files or to disclose the substance of the internal note." *Id.* It permitted the Department to ignore the "note" in Newsbrief 13-01 because the court did "not discern any implied policy " and it "did not jeopardize the sovereignty of the people or government accountability." *Id.*

The Department obviously developed Newbrief 13-01 to assist its employees in responding to requests for phone records. In all four responses to the requests, the employees of the Department made the same canned response. A policy has been defined as "[a] standard course of action that has been officially established by an organization, business, political party, etc." Black's Law Dictionary, p. 981 (10th ed. 2015). In its consideration, the trial court explicitly addressed the policy contained in Newsbrief 13-01.

The general rule was that phone records did not typically qualify as public records, the exception to that general rule was that, if the records had been used for a government purpose, then they would qualify as a public record. The policy as a whole is reasonable, but its reasonableness depends on application of both parts of the policy, the general rule and its exception.

Evans, CP 247. The trial court treated the Newsbrief 13-01 as one policy with a general rule and an exception. Division I treated Newsbrief 13-01 with

one general rule with the note immediately following the rule that was not even an implied policy. Policy notes or comments are considered part of a policy. For example, comments to the various Restatements are cited for their authority. *See Segura v. Cabrera*, 179 Wn. App. 630, 635, 319 P.3d 98 (2014) (citing to Restatement (Second) of Torts, various comments and a special note). Division I's opinion is in conflict with the prior cases governing bad faith for inmate requesters pursuant to RCW 42.56.565(1).

It is I the public interest to clarify what is considered a policy in the PRA context to assist agencies in their responses to document requests. Although not limited to this especially certainly applies to inmate litigation. *See Adams v. Dept. of Corrections*, 189 Wn. App. 925, 361 P.3d 749 (2015) (An agency using a policy to deny records based on a legally indefensible exemption is acting in bad faith.). But it also applies in the non-inmate context when a lower court applies the *Yousoufian* mitigating and aggravating factors to calculate penalties. *Yousoufian v. King County*, 168 Wn.2d 444, 467-68, 229 P.3d 735 (2010).

An agency's policy may affect the penalty amount in various ways. In these cases, the existence of an established policy resulted in the trial court awarding penalties when it was not followed. The existence of a policy could be used by a trial court to determine the extent of noncompliance with the

PRA, its public importance, training or the reasonableness of the explanation for noncompliance.

It is sound public policy to provide context and definition to how an agency's policy is to be interpreted when considering its response to a PRA request. For the reasons expressed, this Court should accept review to provide guidance to agencies developing PRA policies.

F. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the Respondents respectfully asks this Court to acknowledge the case conflicts and significant issues of public interest by accepting review. He also asks for reasonable attorney fees and costs pursuant to RAP 18.1.