RECEIVED VIA PORTAL

NO. 94277-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

Appellant,

v.

CHRISTOPHER COOK, KEVIN EVANS, JOSEPH JONES AND CHRISTOPHER ROBINSON,

Appellees.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Timothy J. Feulner, WSBA #45396 Cassie B. vanRoojen, WSBA #44049 Assistant Attorneys General Corrections Division; OID #91025 PO Box 40116 Olympia WA 98504-0116 360-586-1445 TimF1@atg.wa.gov CassieV@atg.wa.gov

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Appellees urge this Court to take review contending that the Court of Appeals' opinion conflicts with prior case law and raises issues of public importance. Appellees specifically request that this Court accept review to (1) provide guidance on the definition of a public record and agency responsibility for records of third-party vendors, and (2) define the contours of policies courts can consider when making a penalty determination. However, neither of these issues meets the requirements set out in RAP 13.4(b). This Court should deny review.

///

A. The Court of Appeals Did Not Address the Definition of a Public Record and Its Opinion Does Not Conflict with Prior Case Law on That Issue

The Court of Appeals decision does not address the definition of a public record, and no party is arguing that the requested phone logs are not a public record. Accordingly, there is no disputed definition requiring clarification or guidance from the Court. Appellees' argument regarding the definition of a public record ignores the procedural posture of these cases. The issue before the trial court and the Court of Appeals was whether the Department acted in bad faith in denying the opportunity to inspect or copy records under RCW 42.56.565. Indeed, for the purposes of these cases, the Department conceded in the trial court that the requested records were public records and that it violated the PRA in failing to provide such records. Therefore, neither the trial court nor the appellate court squarely addressed the definition of a public record. Rather, in reaching its decision, the trial court considered the Department's policy regarding phone logs and determined that it was based on a reasonable interpretation of the definition of a public record, but did not decide whether the records were or were not public records. The trial court's conclusion on that issue was unchallenged by Appellees on appeal. Division One of the Court of Appeals similarly relied upon this uncontested conclusion that the Department's policy was reasonable and

likewise did not decide whether the requested records met the definition of a public record. As such, refining the definition of a public record is not a ripe issue for review in this case.

Appellees argue that Division One's decision here conflicts with Concerned Ratepayers, 138 Wn.2d 950, 983 P.2d 635 (1999). Concerned Ratepayers, however, dealt with the definition of a public record and the Concerned Ratepayers court concluded nothing about penalties. Moreover, Concerned Ratepayers was decided over a decade before the limitation on penalties to incarcerated individuals in RCW 42.56.565(1) was enacted. Division One's decision was based on its interpretation of RCW 42.56.565(1) and nothing in the decision conflicts with Concerned Ratepayers' definition of a public record.

Nor does Division One's decision here conflict with *Concerned Ratepayers* for the other reason Appellees argue—that it opens the door for an agency to "argue it did not have a policy governing disclosure and thus it is not required to pay any penalties." Petition for Review, at p. 6. *Concerned Ratepayers* did not discuss any internal policy, so there is no conflict. Regardless, Appellees' argument is based on a misunderstanding of Division One's decision. Rather Division One decided that an agency does not act in bad faith when its actions are based on a policy that is

objectively reasonable. That proposition appears uncontroversial as the Court of Appeals has consistently said as much, as discussed below.

Because Division One's opinion did not address the issue of whether requested records were public records based on the Department's concession, its opinion does not conflict with *Concerned Ratepayers*. This Court should decline review.

B. The Court of Appeals Decision Was Based on a Standard of Bad Faith That All the Parties Agreed Applied; That Decision Does Not Conflict with Prior Case Law

RCW 42.56.565(1) allows for the award of penalties to incarcerated individuals only if the court finds that the agency acted in bad faith in denying the individual the opportunity to inspect or copy a record. In order to show bad faith, an incarcerated requester must show that the agency engaged in willful and wanton conduct that defeats the purpose of the PRA. *See Faulkner v. Wash. Dep't of Corrections*, 183 Wn. App. 93, 332 P.3d 1136 (2014). In the Court of Appeals, Appellees conceded that this standard was the appropriate standard under the law. *See* Oral Argument, *Cook, et al., v. Dep't of Corrections*, No. 48186-2-I (Jan. 6, 2016), at 8:15-8:36.

⁶ Court: And you agree that the standard for bad faith is willful or wanton conduct utterly disregarding the purpose of the Public Records Act?

Appellees' Counsel: I think that we all agree that *Faulkner* as put together is willful or wanton conduct, your Honor.

Applying this standard, the Court of Appeals concluded that the Department's actions did not constitute bad faith. Specifically, the Court of Appeals concluded "[t]he Department reasonably complied with its then-existing objectively reasonable belief that phone logs were not public records." Appendix to Petition for Review, at p. 8. Under the circumstances as a whole, the Court of Appeals concluded the Department did not act in bad faith because the failure to search or to disclose to inmates that exhibits to investigations may be public records did not jeopardize the sovereignty of the people or government accountability.

Appellees argue that the Court's analysis conflicts with *Francis v*. *Department of Corrections*, 178 Wn. App. 42, 313 P.3d 457 (2013). As an initial matter, *Faulkner* clarified the standard articulated in *Francis* and Appellees do not argue that the Court of Appeals erroneously applied *Faulkner*. Indeed, as noted above, they conceded that *Faulkner* is the appropriate standard. Regardless, Appellees overstate the *Francis* case. In *Francis*, the Court of Appeals concluded that an agency's failure to search could constitute bad faith but that the search and response is to be considered under the "broad canopy of reasonableness." *Id.* at 63. The *Francis* court further limited this conclusion when it stated "[t]his is not to

Court: And Faulkner also recognizes that we are going to look at the total circumstances in making that decision.

Counsel: I understand that too, your Honor.

say that the failure to conduct a reasonable search or the failure to follow policies in a search by themselves necessarily constitutes bad faith." *Francis*, 178 Wn. App. at 63 n.5. As such, *Francis* does not stand for the proposition that an inadequate search requires a finding of bad faith as Appellees argue. Instead, *Francis* illustrates that courts look at the entire circumstance of the agency's conduct, including any search, to determine bad faith. Here, consistent with *Francis*, Division One considered all of the circumstances of the case and held that the Department did not act in bad faith in denying Appellees the opportunity to inspect or copy a record.

Appellees' Petition for Discretionary Review is largely premised on the idea that the Department acted in bad faith because it did not search to see if the requested records were contained in any investigation file. But as the Court of Appeals correctly concluded, this fact by itself does not establish bad faith. Additionally, Appellees' argument ignores the uncontested fact that Appellees' records were never accessed for any investigation or Department purpose. Appellees' argument is essentially that the Department acted in bad faith because it failed to search in places that the records in question could never have been found. Although the trial court adopted this erroneous logic, the Court of Appeals correctly decided that the bad faith inquiry is conducted as a whole and the Department's actions under the circumstances did not amount to bad faith.

Again, nothing in this conclusion conflicts with pre-existing case law on bad faith. Therefore, the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with *Francis* and there is no conflict providing a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

C. Division One's Decision Was Correct and It Does Not Otherwise Meet the Criteria for Discretionary Review

RCW 42.56.565(1)'s limitation on penalties to incarcerated requesters identifies two interrelated prerequisites to the award of penalties: 1) the requisite degree of culpability, i.e., bad faith and 2) the actions that the agency must have taken in bad faith, i.e. the denial of an opportunity to inspect or copy a record. As discussed above, the Court of Appeals' decision was premised on the first limitation and Appellees' agreed that the first limitation was governed by *Faulkner*. Under *Faulkner* and related cases, even when an agency violates the PRA by not disclosing a record, reliance on an invalid basis for nondisclosure does not result in a finding of bad faith, so long as the basis is not farfetched or asserted with knowledge of its invalidity. *See King County v. Sheehan*, 114 Wn. App. 325, 356-57, 57 P.3d 307 (2002)(finding no bad faith because the agency's argument was not farfetched). Here, the trial court and the Court of

⁷ RCW 42.56.565(1) provides: "A court shall not award penalties under RCW 42.56.550(4) to a person who was serving a criminal sentence in a state, local, or privately operated correctional facility on the date the request for public records was made, unless the court finds that the agency acted in bad faith in denying the person the opportunity to inspect or copy a public record."

Appeals concluded that the Department's decision to decline to produce phone logs in response to Appellees' requests was based on a reasonable interpretation of the PRA. Based on this conclusion, the Department did not act in bad faith and the Court of Appeals correctly concluded as much.

In addition to the arguments addressed above, Appellees' brief makes passing reference to a number of factors that they argue support review. Specifically, Appellees argue that this case is a matter of public importance because agencies need guidance for handling third party records or because agencies need clarification about what is considered a policy in the PRA context. However, neither of these arguments applies to this case or the Court of Appeals decision. In this case, the Department had provided Appellees with the requested records and changed its policy regarding inmate phone logs. The only issue was whether these particular incarcerated requesters should be entitled to penalties on these facts. That is not an issue of substantial public importance under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

With respect to the question of the definition of "policy," this issue likewise is not presented in this case. The Court of Appeals did not determine that the Newsbrief was not a policy; rather it held that the Department's policy was reasonable and the Department acted based on a reasonable interpretation of that policy. The Department has never argued that the Newsbrief was not a policy or used that as a basis for a finding of

no bad faith. Rather, the Department has argued that the Department's policy, as properly interpreted, was a reasonable policy and therefore applying it was not bad faith. Because the definition of a policy is not an issue in this case, it does not provide a basis for review under any subpart of RAP 13.4(b).

V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals decision is carefully reasoned, consistent with other appellate court decisions interpreting bad faith, and correctly interprets and applies RCW 42.56.565(1). None of the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b) are satisfied. The Court should deny review.

VI. COSTS

In the event that the Court denies review, the Department requests costs pursuant to RAP 14.2.